IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,157

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

JAMES C. BURKE,

Respondent.



MAY 18 1990

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM REPORT OF REFEREE

ROBERT L. PARKS, ESQUIRE ANDERSON MOSS PARKS & RUSSO, P.A. Suite 2500 New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 -and-ELIZABETH KOEBEL RUSSO, ESQUIRE ELIZABETH RUSSO, P.A. Suite 601 New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 530-8424

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

a. <u>Procedural history</u>

The Bar filed its Complaint on May 16, 1989. (A. 1-7).¹ The Complaint alleged conversion of the \$9,919.45, acknowledged repayment of the amount, and charged violations of Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(4), 1-102(A)(5) and 1-102(A)(6) of the Code of Professional Responsibility, Rule 11.02(4) of the Integration Rules of The Florida Bar, and Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust

LAW OFFICES ELIZABETH RUSSO, P.A. SUITE 60I NEW WORLD TOWER, 100 NORTH BISCAYNE BLVD., MIAMI, FLORIDA 33132 + TEL. (305) 530-8424 FAX (305) 530-8425

¹Respondent has prepared all pleadings in an Appendix to his brief, numbered sequentially from A. 1- A. 121 and referenced herein as (A.____). References to the transcript of the hearing before the magistrate appear as (T.____), and to the exhibits entered at the hearing as (Bar Exhibit No.____; Respondent Exhibit No.____). All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

Accounts. (A. 1-7). Numerous exhibits were attached to the Complaint. (A. 8-26). The Bar also propounded a request for admissions. (A.27-51).

This Court thereupon appointed a referee by order dated June 2, 1989. (A.52). Respondent James Burke filed his answer and affirmative defenses on June 12, 1989 (A.53-55), and responded to the Bar's request for admissions on July 20, 1989. (A.56-57).

A hearing was held before the referee on October 24, 1989. (T.1-249). At the request of the referee, memoranda were submitted by the parties thereafter. (A.58-117).

The referee issued his report on January 30, 1990. (A.118-121). The referee found violations of rules as charged, and recommended an eighteen month suspension and that Respondent be required to retake the ethics professional responsibilities portion of the Florida Bar. (A.120). Respondent thereupon initiated the present proceedings for review by this Court. (A.122).

b. <u>The Banks v. Firestone lawsuit, initial settlement, and</u> proposed distribution

In 1984, James Burke was representing the family of Samuel Banks in a wrongful death action against Firestone Tire and Rubber Company. (A.28, 56). The case was tentatively settled for \$150,000 in about May of 1984 (T.54, 113-114), but Firestone required Court approval before finalization and payment. (T.143). The \$150,000 settlement check was received July 31, 1984. (A.26, T.160).

When the initial settlement was proposed and approved in

May of 1984, a certain distribution had been determined among the beneficiaries and recipients, who were: (1) Dorothy Banks, mother of the deceased, and the personal representative, (2) James Banks, father of the deceased, (3) two guardianships for DeMarco Lamont Tyler and Duane Randall, illegitimate sons of the deceased by different mothers, (4) Pantry Pride, employer of the deceased who had a workers' compensation lien, (5) the law firm of Spence, Payne, Masington & Grossman, P.A., which had some minor administrative costs, and (6) the attorneys for the Banks, i.e., handling attorney James Burke, and referral attorney Eric Hendon. (T. 36, 67, 69, A.9-10). The agreed distribution amounts are reflected in the settlement approval order. (A.9-10).

c. The changed distribution plan

Subsequently, James Banks, the deceased's father, decided he wanted more money. (T.38-39, 114-116). Respondent Burke called a meeting or meetings among the beneficiaries, during which all agreed to change the distribution. (T. 38-39, 195). As summarized by Phyllis Tyler, mother and guardian of one of the boys, Mr. Burke wrote out the new allocation and everyone got a copy. (T.40, see also 119-121). Ms. Tyler, who has an accounting background, confirmed that everyone knew there was a difference between what they were getting under the new allocation they had agreed upon and what the initial settlement approval order said. (T.40, 50-51).

4

LAW OFFICES ELIZABETH RUSSO, P.A. SUITE 60I NEW WORLD TOWER, 100 NORTH BISCAYNE BLVD., MIAMI, FLORIDA 33132 • TEL. (305) 530-8424 FAX (305) 530-8425

d. The new allocation and distribution of the funds

At the time of the adjustment to the settlement allocation and for some years thereafter, James Burke believed that the adjustment was made on a percentage basis with each of the estate beneficiaries (except the father) <u>and</u> Burke taking a reduction in their portions. (T.49, 116, 118, 122-123, 146). The distribution of the funds was made in accordance with the new written allocation everyone had agreed upon. (T. 38-40, 50-51, 116, 117, 119).

The methods of calculating the new allocation and intaking and disbursing the funds, however, were typical of the then problems with Mr. Burke's practice and bookkeeping.

The new allocation was calculated by Mr. Burke, partially over the phone with his secretary:

Afterwards [i.e., after discussing with the beneficiaries the change in allocation engendered by James Banks' demand for a greater cut] I sat down and basically did some addition, based upon a percentage of what was supposed to be my fee, money from the two boys and Mrs. Banks, and it was supposed to add up.

I did the figuring, most of which was done over the phone between me and my secretary, because we were in the legislative process from April to May.

(T.116).

The sheet of paper Mr. Burke prepared reflecting his figuring was the one shown to the beneficiaries and agreed upon. (T.40, 116, 119-120). Everything was thereafter prepared in accordance with that sheet. (T.116).

When the \$150,000 check was actually received on July 31, 1984, the intake and disbursement of the funds was as irregular and haphazard as the figuring process.

Mr. Burke initially checked into depositing the check into a firm trust account at People's National Bank, but was told it would take <u>at least</u> two weeks to clear. (T.192). He therefore checked with Southeast Bank where he knew an officer and was told he could get one day clearance. (T.193). Burke asked whether he should open a trust account to take in the funds, but Southeast suggested he just use a basically dormant personal account (with a \$7.08 balance) since he would just be clearing the funds through to the trust account at the Peoples Bank. (T.160, 193, 203).

The \$150,000 was thus deposited in the Southeast account, and \$8,000 and \$112,251.77 were thereafter transferred to the trust account for a total of approximately \$120,251.77. (T.160, 161-162). Mr. Burke's original fee agreement of 40% of the fee would have entitled him to \$60,000, but his fee had been reduced to something less than 30% such that the fee was to be only \$40,080.55 (T.117). Mr. Burke had promised to pay referral attorney Eric Hendon onethird of the fee, and he made this payment in full. (T.67-69).

One hundred thousand dollars was paid from the trust account into an account established for the Estate of Samuel Banks, and from there paid out by personal representative Dorothy Banks exactly in accordance with the agreed allocation. (T.50, 51, 119). No check was ever written to Mr. Burke from either the Southeast account or the Peoples trust account, so he never had a specific

record of what he had received in fees. (T.183, 198). As Mr. Burke put it, up until the time the discrepancy showing an overpayment of his fee was pointed out to him following the events outlined below, "I was going along thinking I had done this great thing giving up part of my fee, so that we could have a general agreement." (T.146).

In any event, all of the beneficiaries were satisfied with the distribution and their agreed upon allocation. (T.50-51). Beneficiaries saw both Mr. Burke and Mr. Hendon over time, and Mr. Burke, in fact, continued to help with various matters for the guardianships for the boys and no one expressed any dissatisfaction. (T.40-41, 69, 125).

e. Judge Newbold initiates a file review

Judge Newbold is a Dade County Circuit Court judge, and was the assigned judge on the probate file for the Estate of Samuel Banks which had been opened in 1982. (T.52-53). From 1984 through 1987, there was no activity relative to the Banks Estate file, and Judge Newbold appointed Dade County probate attorney James Sloto as an administrator ad litem just to check the status of the file. (T.80, 83-84; Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Order dated April 17, 1987). Mr. Sloto filed his acceptance of the appointment on June 15, 1987. (Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Oath of Administrator Ad Litem, dated June 15, 1987).

The administrator filed an interim report in June of 1987

which merely chronicled the events in the estate through that time. (Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court file for Banks Estate, Interim Report). Later in that same month, the administrator filed a Supplemental Report, which simply noted that funds had not been reserved in the Estate to pay administrative expenses, and recommended that the beneficiaries be charged pro rata for a fee for the Administrator Ad Litem. (Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Supplemental Report of Administrator Ad Litem, dated June 23, 1987).

Sloto also at some point reviewed the guardianship files and saw that the guardianships had received lesser amounts from the settlement proceeds than those set out in the order approving the settlement in the Firestone case. (T.83). Mr. Burke and the estate beneficiaries, including the boys' guardians, already knew that fact because they had <u>all agreed to the reductions</u> in the summer of 1984. (See section d, <u>supra</u>). An agreed order was entered, though, that Mr. Burke would file an explanation with the probate court of the actual distribution and why it varied from the approved settlement. (Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Agreed Order, dated August 3, 1987).

Mr. Burke was to file his report within 30 days of the August 3, 1987 order, but the Legislature was in extraordinary sessions that year almost through December involving, inter alia, the issue of the sales tax in Florida (Mr. Burke was Chairman of the Sales Tax Subcommittee), so Mr. Burke called the Judge to notify him of his legislative commitments. (T.102, 130, 131; Bar

Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File on Banks Estate, Response dated January 25, 1988). He also asked the administrator for a time extension. (T.102). In December of 1987, the Administrator filed a petition for order to show cause why Mr. Burke should not be held in contempt, and set it for hearing in January of 1988. (Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Petition and Notice of Hearing, dated December 11, 1987).

Mr. Burke filed his response on January 25, 1988, and Judge Newbold determined Mr. Burke should not be held in contempt. (T.87, 57, 65, 110-111). The Administrator presented Judge Newbold with an order that he asked be entered - and which was entered which recited that:

> [T]hrough the pleadings, and oral arguments made to the Court by James Burke, Esq., <u>a</u> <u>satisfactory explanation has been given of the</u> <u>distribution of the settlement proceeds</u> in Dade Circuit Case No. 84-04140.

(T.60; Bar Exhibit 2, Dade County Circuit Court File for Banks Estate, Agreed order dated February 2, 1988). There the matter rested as far as the probate court and Administrator were concerned at the time.

f. <u>The Bar proceedings, Mr. Burke's awareness of the error, and</u> repayment of the funds

The Bar thereafter scheduled a hearing before a grievance committee initially for July of 1988, but rescheduled to October of 1988. Carlos Ruga, a CPA who does audit work for the Bar, was asked to look into Mr. Burke's bank accounts for August and September of 1984 regarding the receipts and disbursements for the Samuel Banks Estate. (T.157-159). Mr. Ruga prepared a written audit report addressed to Assistant Staff Counsel Louis Thaler on May 31, 1988. (A.46-50).

Mr. Burke saw the report for the first time at the grievance committee hearing in October of 1988. (T.146, 194, 201). Mr. Burke then first discovered there had been the error of approximately \$9,919, i.e. at the time of the grievance committee hearing before the Bar when "Ruga presented the numbers." (T.194). Until that time, Burke thought he had received <u>less</u> than his \$40,000 fee minus the \$13,000 referral fee - believing that his fee as well as the beneficiaries' distributions had been cut. (T.146, 194, 201). He testified that he never intended to take an additional dime from the clients. (T.194).

After Mr. Burke learned of the \$9,919 error in his favor, he paid the money back into the guardianships in December of 1988. (T.61-62, 126).

g. James Burke as a member of the Florida Bar

Mr. Burke was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1973. (T.189). The same year he became a member of the Dade County Bar Association, and later served on its Legislative Committee. (T.189). He also served as Chairman of its Constitutional Revision Committee in 1980. (T.189). Mr. Burke's first four years of practice were with Legal Services, and then he spent one and a half years as a legislative aide. (T. 199).

With the Florida Bar, Mr. Burke served on a Grievance Committee for Dade County in 1981 to 1983. (T.189). He also served on the Florida Bar Continuing Legal Education Committee from 1982 to 1984, and as a member of the Judiciary Committee. (T.190). Mr. Burke is an active member of the Black Lawyers' Association. (T.70).

Mr. Burke was elected to the legislature in 1982 from District 107, which is the Liberty City-North Miami area. (T.190). As a freshman representative, he was appointed to chair the Subcommittee on Ethics in Elections. (T.190). He has also served on the Judiciary Committee, and as Chairman of the Subcommittee on Court Systems. (T.190). In 1985, he was nominated as Speaker Pro-Tem of the House for the years 1986 to 1988. (T.191). He has also served as Chairman of the Claims Committee, and on the Appropriations Subcommittee that handles the criminal justice system. (T.191).

As summed up by this Court in its decision in the Alvarez case:

Mr. Burke has made many contributions to his community and the State.

517 So.2d at 685.

h. The problems with Mr. Burke's accounting procedures in 1984

Mr. Burke recognized that after the Alvarez problem came up in 1984, "it became apparent that part of my problem was trying to be in the legislature and also practicing law". (T.196). Also, Burke did not have an accountant or bookkeeper doing any work on his books during that time period. (T.186). During the period reviewed by Mr. Ruga - i.e., August and September of 1984, Burke did not have someone specifically responsible for reconciling his bank account and his check book. (T.195).

My secretary or I would try to do it when we could. There was nobody that was responsible for it, no.

(T.195). Bank reconciliations were not done on a regular basis.(T.195).

The Referee at the hearing specifically asked about the relationship between the accounting procedures in the Alvarez and the Banks matters:

THE REFEREE: What was the status of the bookkeeping going on or whatever arrangements were happening in your office at the time that this payment [in Banks] was made with regard to the grievance hearing on Alvarez [held August 7, 1984]?

THE WITNESS [Mr. Burke]: Basically, the same process that we have here.

Somewhere between me and Joyce, my secretary, things would <u>kind of get done</u>.

(T.210-211).

Again, as aptly summarized by this Court in Alvarez:

Many of Respondent's problems arose from trying to maintain his law practice by himself while attending to legislative duties, and extremely shabby accounting procedures.

517 So.2d at 685.

i. <u>Correction of the problems</u>

Having realized that his problems were engendered in part by competing demands of his sole practitioner law firm and his legislative duties, Mr. Burke went into a partnership. (T.186). His partners started doing the accounting in 1985-1986. (T.186). Mr. Burke also employed a CPA, Ron Tompkins & Co., and has two administrative attorneys in the partnership - a senior partner and another lawyer - who tie in all his accounts. (T.186).

Since 1984, Mr. Burke has maintained and handled trust accounts properly, kept law office accounts separately, and has had no further problems with his accounting. (T.209).

Mr. Burke's efforts to correct the problems with his practice and accounting procedures which existed through 1984 were also recognized by this Court in its 1988 opinion in Alvarez:

> Respondent has tried to remedy these conditions by having an accountant monitor his accounting procedures and his books and by forming a partnership so that other lawyers can handle his cases for him while he is attending legislative sessions.

517 So.2d at 685.

j. <u>Mr. Burke's commentary on his role in causing the accounting</u> problems

Mr. Burke was forthcoming in his testimony, which recognized both his responsibilities and his mistakes. He

acknowledged that in 1984 his accounting system was "messed up", and candidly stated that in trying to work things through his secretary while he was away at the Legislature: "What I did a lot was just screw it up". (T.127, 209). He said that disbursement and monitoring of settlement funds were his responsibility, and stated:

> I think I owe it to myself as a lawyer and to my clients to pay closer attention. I feel that duty is owed.

(T.199). He forthrightly stated that he felt the duty was breached in the Banks matter. (T.199).

k. Evidence indicating mistake rather than intentional act

Again, Mr. Burke testified that he was operating under the belief that he had done a good thing by cutting his fee to help reach a general agreement on the re-allocation of the Banks settlement funds, up until the time he saw Ruga's figures in October of 1988:

> [T]hat's basically when it became clear to me that not only didn't I cut it [the fee], but more went in than should have.

(T.148).

Back in the summer of 1984, however, the new allocation had been fully disclosed in writing to all the appropriate recipients of settlement funds. (T.45, 50-51). As stated by guardian Phyllis Tyler, who, again, had an accounting background:

We [the settlement proceeds participants] knew

exactly how much we were getting reduced, because it was all in writing.

(T.50-51).

Far from terminating his contacts and relationship with the Banks clients (as an intentional wrongdoer might be expected to), Mr. Burke in fact continued to do things for the guardianships for a period of some years, and without further remuneration:

> I represented [the guardians] Phyllis Tyler and Doris Randall in going to the Court and having hearings to pay money out.

> For Mrs. Randall, I went to a hearing once to get money for educational purposes, I believe, or to purchase property. Those were orders that are in the file.

> Also, with Mrs. Tyler, we actually went to court several times. One time was to get money for her son to go to private school, and another time was to get money to buy computer equipment for her son.

> A third time was to go in to change where the money was, because she had gotten an investment account.

A fourth time, we talked about -- and I went out to South Dade to visit with somebody once that she said she wanted to buy property from and discussed it with her.

Also, we did an inventory somewhere along the line.

(T.125).

The probate judge and administrator ad litem both acknowledged that the reductions in distributions from the original amounts in the approved settlement, e.g. to the guardianship accounts, were fully made a matter of public record. (T.64-65, 96). Mr. Burke was thinking the difference between the initial proposed settlement distribution and the actual distribution was simply the agreed upon re-allocation, and so reported to the probate judge, who said:

> Mr. Burke didn't make any bones about the fact that it was short. He didn't lie and say the money was there. He came out and said -there is a written response in the estate file saying that the money wasn't there and a reason for it.

(T.61).

1. <u>Report of Referee</u>

The Referee below entered various findings of fact, most of which merely chronicle the sequence of the above events. (A.118-120). Respondent takes no exception to the majority of these findings, and comments only on Findings 10, 15, 16, and 18.

Finding 10 recites that the Firestone check for \$150,000 was issued on May 25, 1984. That <u>is</u> the date on the check, but it is undisputed that the check was not delivered to Mr. Burke for disbursement until July 31, 1984. (T.160, A.47).

Findings 15 and 16 state:

15. That upon the completion of the distribution, the remaining funds left in the account were to be those attorney fees taken by Respondent.

16. That said amount remaining <u>in this ac-</u> <u>count</u> was \$50,000.

These recitals do not accurately reflect the actual

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