original

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case
No. 74,157

v.

JAMES C. BURKE,

Respondent.

JUN 25 1930

99. 3. 9 **4**0 3

District Control of the Control of t

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF TO RESPONDENT'S PETITION TO REVIEW

AND

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

WARREN JAY STAMM
Bar Counsel, Bar #582440
The Florida Bar
M-100 Rivergate Plaza
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel, Bar #217395 The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director, Bar #123390 The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A referee's findings of fact enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding. Rule 3-7.5(c)(1), Rules of Discipline. The Supreme Court is not bound by the referee's recommendation for discipline. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978).

Respondent, Burke, argues that the acts for which he was charged by The Florida Bar involving the Estate of Banks occurred as a result of "sloppy accounting". This is a thinly veiled attempt to hide his misappropriation of funds.

Respondent relies on his prior disciplinary case styled <u>The Florida Bar v. Burke</u>, 517 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1988) to justify his actions in the instant matter. He argues that he has already been disciplined for the acts complained of which were caused by his "sloppy accounting" procedures that were allegedly in effect during 1984. This is misdirection.

In <u>Burke</u>, Respondent received monies belonging to his clients in the form of a check issued from the Clerk of the Court's office. Respondent cashed the check and failed to turn the monies over to his clients. Respondent, Burke, was unable to account for where these funds went. When repeated demands were made by the clients for their monies, on two separate occasions Burke issued the clients a check from his account which bounced. Finally, ten months later, on the day of the Grievance Committee hearing on this matter, Respondent paid the clients their money.

The fact remains, and it is undisputed by Respondent, that he failed to comply with the Court orders of distribution in the Banks matter. It is further undisputed that Respondent deposited \$150,000.00 of client funds into his personal bank account and now cannot account for misappropriated client funds in excess of \$9,919.45. The Florida Bar was able to account for these funds. Respondent made all of his distributions to the and guardianships, the \$9,919.45 remained beneficiaries Respondent's personal account and/or under the care, custody and control of James Burke.

The actions/inactions of Respondent, Burke, are not attributable to "sloppy accounting" but rather are calculated and intentional acts to misappropriate client funds in direct violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Such conduct warrants disbarment.

POINT ON APPEAL

POINT I

WHETHER BASED ON THE FACTS AND EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED AGAINST RESPONDENT JAMES C. BURKE. (RESTATED)

ARGUMENT

The facts and evidence presented at trial before the referee support The Florida Bar's recommendation that the appropriate discipline to be imposed against respondent James C. Burke is disbarment.

A referee's findings of fact enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding. Rule 3-7.5(k)(1), Rules of Discipline. The Supreme Court is not bound by the referee's recommendation for discipline. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978).

The referee in his report tracked the allegations of the complaint as filed by The Florida Bar almost verbatim and found that after hearing all of the evidence and testimony presented at trial, the allegations were now proven facts supported by the evidence. Respondent, James Burke was and is guilty of violating the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The thrust of respondent's case/argument both at trial and in his initial brief is that respondent's practice was "messed up," he was "trying to work things through his secretary," and he was "attending to his legislative duties." Further, respondent relies heavily on his prior discipline and "shabby accounting procedures." These assertions do not justify or obviate respondent's violative conduct, but rather, are a thinly veiled attempt to hide his misappropriation of funds.

Respondent, Burke, principally relies on his prior disciplinary case styled, The Florida Bar v. James C. Burke, 517 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1988) to justify his actions in the Banks matter. He argues, that he has already been disciplined for his actions and that the acts complained of which are the subject matter of the Bar's Complaint were the result of the same "sloppy accounting" procedures that were allegedly in effect during 1984. THIS IS MISDIRECTION.

The Court in <u>Burke</u>, supra, found respondent guilty of failure to maintain complete records of client funds, failure to properly deliver funds to clients and failure to properly maintain trust account records.

Respondent began representing the Alvarez sisters in 1980. On October 4, 1983, \$8,380.60 of the Alvarezes' money was released to respondent by check from the Clerk's office. These funds belonged to the clients. Burke cashed the check on October 4, 1983, but was unable to account for where the money went or what he did with it. It was clear, however, that he did not deposit the funds into his trust account where they should have gone under trust accounting rules in effect at that time. As the check was cashed, the funds were available, yet Burke told the Alvarez sisters that the funds would not clear for ninety days.

Multiple requests were made by the Alvarezes for their money and on no less than two separate occasions, the checks sent by Burke to the Alvarezes bounced for insufficient funds in Burke's accounts.

This immediately should have put Burke on notice that something was wrong with his accounting system and immediate action should have been taken to ameliorate and discover where client funds had gone.

As such, as early as October of 1983, Burke was aware that he was not complying with minimal trust accounting procedures. Additionally, assuming that his accounting procedures were in disarray, he took no action to rectify them at this time despite the fact that he now had knowledge of this.

It was not until ten months later, on August 7, 1984, the day of the grievance committee hearing on the Alvarez matter when Burke was faced with Bar discipline, that Burke finally, in a cashier's check, gave the Alvarezes \$6,567.35 due them. And is it coincidental that on August 7, 1984, the same day as the grievance committee hearing, respondent withdrew, in cash, for no apparent reason \$6,900.00 from the estate of Samuel Banks? The Florida Bar thinks not. This is not the action of an individual with "sloppy accounting," but rather an intentional and knowing transfer of funds.

There are similarities between the Alvarez matter and the Banks matter. They both occurred in 1984 and in both cases, respondent misappropriated client funds. It should be noted that in the Alvarez matter, this Court stated with respect to respondent's inadequate record keeping that, " ... worst of all, the check from the court designated for Janet and Yvette Alvarez, was not even deposited into the trust account... " (id.page 685).

At least in the Alvarez matter, Burke deposited some of the funds in his office account. In the Banks matter, he deposited \$150,000.00 solely into his personal account.

The fact remains, and it is undisputed by respondent, that the Court order in Banks of May 14, 1987 was not complied with. Further, it is not disputed that respondent filed court pleadings in the guardianship matters funding each guardianship with \$18,486.92 when the court order called for \$23,880.35. It is suggested to this Court that since these accountings were approved by the respective family members who were aware that the guardianships were only going to be funded with \$18,486.92, there was no alternative for Burke but to fund them as such.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Newhouse</u>, 520 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1988), this Court held that failure to abide by Court orders regarding disbursement of settlement proceeds, assisting clients in violation of the Court order regarding disbursement of settlement proceeds for minors who were to receive benefits of guardianship assets, failure to follow proper trust accounting procedures, and failure to pay outstanding costs of litigation as a result of settlement, warrants disbarment without leave to reapply for a period of ten years and the payment of costs in the amount of \$2,435.60.

As did respondent Burke in the case at Bar, respondent Newhouse violated the Court's order of distribution and transferred a portion of the settlement proceeds to a parent and retained a portion for himself.

Newhouse took the position that the Court had no authority to restrict the distribution of the settlement proceeds, but the referee found this position to be without merit.

It should be noted that this Court disbarred Richard Newhouse not only on the same factual circumstances as those in the case at Bar involving Burke's handling of the Banks Estate and Guardianships, but the referee found Newhouse guilty of the same rule violations occurring during the same period of time as that set out in The Florida Bar's complaint against James Burke.

The referee went on to further support his findings by relying on Rule 4.11 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline. The Referee found that Newhouse had knowingly converted a client's property and therefore disbarment was appropriate. Such is the case at Bar.

¹ The referee in <u>Newhouse</u> found that the following standards for discipline were applicable:

^{4.11} Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

^{4.61} Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally deceives a client with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another, regardless of injury or potential injury.

^{6.21} Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious injury or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes serious or potentially serious interference with a legal proceeding.

Respondent testified, and it was supported by the evidence, that James Banks demanded an additional \$3,496.41. This is undisputed. Why then deduct over \$13,398.86?

Respondent attempts to argue in his brief that the odd sums transferred and distributed were a source of confusion, that his accounting procedures were responsible for that confusion and that no "lump sum" was withdrawn by him.

Respondent himself admits that his Court awarded attorney fees of \$40,080.55 and expert fees of \$1,190.00 were paid in full and received by him. (T.115) How then, could he have possibly deducted monies from his fees as he represented to contribute to the additional sum sought by James Banks? He didn't. Quite the contrary, after all of the disbursements, \$9,919.45 remained under the care, custody, and control of respondent.

The record will speak for itself. When asked by Bar Counsel on no less than five separate occasions, "Where did the difference of \$9,919.45 go?", respondent Burke either went off on a tangent or said he didn't know. (T. 122,123,126,127,128)

¹ continued

In that Respondent Burke has had prior discipline imposed, the following standard for discipline also applies:

^{8.1} Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer: (B) Has been suspended for the same or similar misconduct, and intentionally engages in further similar acts of misconduct.

The Florida Bar knows. After a full audit by Carlos Ruga, C.P.A. and Staff Auditor who was able to account for each transaction, \$9,919.45 was remaining in James Burke's personal account. To date respondent has failed to account for this \$9,919.45 of additional funds. It should be noted at this point that it was not until December 7, 1988 that respondent paid back the \$9,919.45 to the respective guardianship accounts despite the fact that he was aware of the discrepancy as early as August, 1987.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Golub</u>, 550 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1989), respondent Golub was the attorney for the Estate of Cecil Harlig. During a twenty month period he systematically stole money from the estate and failed to repay the money at the time the theft was discovered.

Although Golub did not have the permission of the heirs or the Probate Court to remove said funds, wherein James Burke maintains that he did, Golub argued extreme alcoholism as the principle cause of his actions and therefore his alcoholism should significantly act as mitigation for the theft.

The referee recommended Golub be suspended from the practice of law for a period of three years. This Court held that while alcoholism may explain the respondent's conduct, it does not excuse it. Respondent was disbarred for five years. Alcoholism is an involuntary addiction; "sloppy accounting" is something one elects and has control over to remedy.

The Court in <u>Golub</u> cited <u>The Florida Bar v. Tunsil</u>, 503 So.2d 1230,1231, (Fla. 1986) wherein it was stated, "[I]n the heirarchy of offenses for which lawyers may be disciplined, stealing from a client must be among those at the top of the list." No one sets up a systematic plan to misappropriate client funds and makes it look intentional. Respondent, Burke's actions/inactions in not correcting the accounting procedures when discovered is just as culpable as taking affirmative action.

Respondent argues that such activities post 1984 are irrelevant. Quite the contrary. As previously stated, respondent became aware of potential problems with his trust account as early as 1983. That was the time to bring in the accountant to audit the books, not after a finding of probable cause by the grievance committee.

And what effect did this accountant have? Judge Newbold filed the initial complaint with The Florida Bar in the Banks matter in February 1988, wherein at that point Judge Newbold had had before him a Petition for Order to Show Cause and no less than four requests were made of Burke to supply an accounting to the Court, which to date he had failed to do. And when he did, no explanation was provided relative to the \$9,919.45.

Respondent filed his Response to the Petition for Order to Show Cause in January of 1988. Certainly from October of 1983 to January of 1988 was a sufficient period of time for Burke to

investigate and ascertain the alleged problems with his accounting system and to track these missing funds.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980), this Court found that failure to keep adequate records, reconcile escrow accounts, comingling of client funds with personal funds, and misuse and misappropriation of client funds warrants a two year suspension with proof of rehabilitation. However, this Court gave notice that post 1980, it would not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense even though no client is injured.²

In recommending disbarment, the referee in $\underline{\mathtt{Breed}}$ stated the following:

If one looks strictly at the conduct of a lawyer's practice, the misuse of client's funds, whether it using comingled funds or otherwise, certainly one of the most serious offenses a Few offenses have such an lawyer can commit. adverse public impact. While many disciplinary infractions involve situations where matters in mitigation should be considered, a violation involving the misuse of client's funds is not one of them. Recognizing restitution (or "nobody lost anything") as a defense or in mitigation may help minimize client losses, but it should not mitigate the discipline. The referee is aware that other referees have found that a "lack of intent to deprive the client of his money" and "personal hardship" justified relatively minor punishment. Such excuses stand out like an invitation to the lawyer who is in financial difficulty for one reason or another. All too often he is willing to

The Court held true to its word as evidenced in the Newhouse and Golub cases as previously cited and in the Casler, Leopold, Burton, and Owen cases, hereinafter cited.

risk a slap on the wrist, and even a little ignominy, hoping he wouldn't get caught, but knowing that if he is he can plead restitution, but duly contrite, and escape the ultimate punishment. The profession and the public suffer as a consequence. The willful misappropriation of client funds should be the Bar's equivalent of a capital offense. There should be no excuses.

Respondent, Burke repeatedly argued before the referee that is actions/inactions were not intentional and that, as previously stated, "his problems spanned a general time period ending with 1984." (Appellant's Brief, page 18)

Although The Florida Bar believes that Respondent, Burke's actions/inactions were intentional and believes that the evidence establishes this, intent is not the primary factor for the imposition of disbarment as the ultimate discipline.

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